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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Tillamook Post Office is a rectangular one-story structure on a raised base-
ment. The foundations and basement are reinforced concrete and structural steel fram-
ing supports the red brick exterior walls. The roof over the front portion of the
building is hipped and clad with slate, the rear portion is flat with tar composition.
The front is symmetrical with two flat-arched window bays flanking each side of the
double-doored entry bay.

B

Physical Appearance

The Tillamook Post Office is one story in height and symmetrical in elevation.
The basement is constructed of concrete. The first floor is constructed of red brick
with sandstone trim. The main entry stairs are granite. The front portion of the roof
is hipped and covered with slate and the rear portion is flat, built-up tar composi-
tion.

The front facade (east) is flat and divided into five equally spaced flat arched
bays. The main entry bay is centered and flanked on each side by two window bays. The
entry bay is slightly recessed from the brick-faced facade and framed in wood. The en-
try consists of double metal doors with 6-1ight glass panels, topped by a 9-1ight tran-
som window which rests atop a plain wooden door head. An ornate aluminum grille, in
which a flat relief sculpted eagle is centered, is set in front of the transom window.
Granite steps and landing, flanked by square concrete buttresses provide acces to the
entry bay. Single free-standing cast iron light standards topped by a milk-colored
globe rest atop each of the buttresses.

The window bays are identical to each other and of the same dimension as the en-
try bay. The bays consist of triple-hung 6-1ight windows of wood sash which are set
above a plain sandstone panel. The panel is slightly recessed and rests on the sand-
stone facing of the raised basement wall. A plain sandstone frieze extends across the
facade between the line marking the tops of the bays to a plain, slightly projecting
sandstone cornice. "United States Post Office, Tillamook, Oregon" is carved into the
frieze and centered on the entry. The slate-clad hipped roof is topped by a small
square cupola. The cupola is louvered and topped by a low hipped roof.

The north facade is flat and divided into four equally spaced window bays. The
window bays are identical in design and detail as those of the front facade. One of
the bays, however, is filled with brick (original construction and covers vault area),
and one small single 1light window flanks each side of the bricked-in window. Granite
is used to face the exposed basement wall, and sandstone for the frieze above the win-
dow bays, and cornice. Brick is used for the remainder of the facade facing. The treat-
ment is identical to that of the front facade.

The south facade is essentially the same as the north facade, except for the addi-
tion of the mail loading platform. The mail platform is located in the southwest cor-
ner and projects from the facade to the south. A plain brick wall covers the end of

the enclosed platform which opens to the east. A metal marquee projects over the load-
ing area toward the front of the building.
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The rear facade is similar to that of the front, except for the lack of an entry.
The detailing of the five window bays is identical to those of the front facade, as is
the plain stone frieze and slightly projecting cornice. The rear wall of the loading
platform is plain brick above the concrete platform.

The interior consists of the following: concrete floors, walls, and ceiling in
the basement; terrazzo floors, plaster walls with 4-foot marble wainscotting, and plas-
ter ceilings in the lobby; hardwood floors, plaster walls with 4-foot tongue and
groove wainscotting, and plaster ceilings in the work room; and hardwood floors, plas-
ter walls and plaster ceiling in the postmaster's office. The lobby also contains a
mural above the postmaster's office door.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE Site acquired 1940; building completed in 1941.

The Tillamook Post Office was one of the last federally constructed post offices
in Oregon during the Depression Era. Although the design of this small-scale building
is standardized and repeated several times in small cities throughout the Northwest,
it is unaltered, well preserved, and in a grouping of buildings which forms the civic
core of the city. The building also marks the end of the federal design period in
which restrained classical design elements (in this case a Georgian flavor) were in-
corporated into an essentially modern building style (or "half-modern" style).

SPECIFIC DATES

The lobby also contains an egg tempra on plaster mural entitled "Captain Gray's
First Visit to the Oregon Coast," executed by Lucia Wiley in 1943.

Architecture

The Tillamook Post Office is a well preserved and unaltered example of the small
town post office constructed by the federal government at the end of the Depression
Era. It represents the federal presence in the community and was the community's first
federally constructed post office. The building is of standardized design, typical of
the era. The design exhibits the symmetry and proportion of the Classical style, but
lacks the extensive historical detail of the early 1900 post offices. The design can
be termed “"half-modern"” and is Georgian in flavor. The building is significant in the
community and is included on both the city's and state's inventories of historical
properties.

Art

The mural was completed in 1943 under the auspices of the Section of Fine Arts of
the Works Progres Administration. Since the WPA projects were wiped out completely in
July of 1943, the mural represents one of the last works under the program. The mural
is painted in a straightforward, unaffected style that is consistent with the American
realist tradition of the 1920s through 1940s. The mural is significant on both the
state and local levels.

Lucia Wiley was a native of Tillamook and achieved a national reputation for her
mural work during the late 1930s and 1940s. She is Tisted in Who's Who in American Art
(1938-1939 and 1940-1941). Her work has been exhibited throughout the United States
and her mural work is present in several post offices and public buildings in Minne-
sota, I1linois, and Wisconsin. Her work entitled, "Building of the Morning Star" and
completed in 1950, is located across the street from the post office in the Tillamook
County Courthouse.
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Community Planning

The Tillamook Post Office is located within the city's civic core and grouped
with two other buildings of local significance--the Tillamook County Pioneer Museum
(former county courthouse, constructed in 1905) and the present Tillamook County Court-
house, constructed in 1932. The post office, former courthouse and adjacent park, and
present courthouse create an ensemble of monumental governmental buildings. The post
office and present courthouse buildings are well sited in relation to each other with
the park associated with the former county courthouse allowing an unobstructed view
corridor of both buildings.

Local Context

Tillamook, with a 1982 population of 3,980, is the county seat of Tillamook Coun-
ty. Tillamook is located on the Oregon Coast and is a service center for the county's
agricultural, lumber, and fishing industries. Tillamook was settled in the 1850s and
after several name changes, the first Tillamook post office was established on March
12, 1866 with George Miller as the first postmaster. The town was actually called Lin-
coln, but the post office took the name of the county.

The town experienced a modest rate of growth but was relatively isolated from the
population and commercial centers of the state. In 1910 the population reached 1,352
and in 1911 the PR&N Railroad linked Tillamook to Portland. By 1920 the population
reached 1,964, increased to 2,549 in 1930, and in spite of the Depression grew to
2,751 in 1940.

The post office is located in the civic core of the city, a block east of the
main business street. The Tillamook County Pioneer Museum (former county courthouse
constructed in 1905) is located in the block north of the post office, and the present
county courthouse, constructed in 1932, is located across Laurel Avenue in the block
to the east.

Local News Coverage of the Tillamook Post Office Construction

Construction of the Tillamook Post Office was reported in the Headlight Herald
between 1938 and 1941. On July 7, 1938 the Herald announced that "Tillamook will have
$85,000 federal building" upon receipt of a telegram from Senator Reams. The article
stated that the work by various individuals, including Governor Martin, Senators E.A.
Reams, Willis Mahoney, and by a Chamber of Commerce committee, which had been ongoing
since 1935, had finally borne fruit. Another article of the same issue, reporting Post-
master L.E. Hammer's Lion's Club speech regarding the federal building project, quoted
the following statement: "I have assured the federal officials that there will be no
selfish quarrels in Tillamook over the new site."
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On July 14th it was announced that bids on the federal building site would be ad-
vertised July 21-28. Bids were opened on August 3rd. Five were received. C.W. Line-
baugh, U.S. building site agent, visited Tillamook on August 18th to investigate the
sites that had been offered. Site selection appeared to be settled, according to a Sep-
tember 1lst article. The Fischer-Hadley site, across from the new county courthouse,
was found to be eligible and was generally favored by the local populace. The article
surmised that the grouping of the $85,000 federal building, the new $150,000 court-
house, and the Pioneer Museum would provide a fine, attractive civic center. It was
not until January 11, 1940 that the Herald reported an apparent resolution to the site
issue, when the city council voted to purchase the Fischer lots for the post office
site.

Bids for post office construction were called on June 13th. The long awaited com-
mencement of post office construction was expected to take place soon according to an
August 29th article. 0.A. Matson of Tacoma had recently been awarded the contract with
a low bid of $58,724. A description of the proposed brick building was included.
Groundbreaking was reported in the September 5th issue of the Herald.

Announcement of the upcoming cornerstone laying ceremony to be held Saturday was
made in the April 3, 1941 issue. The Tillamook Lodge of Odd Fellows would have charge
of the ceremony. Ex-mayor Joe Carson was slated as the principal speaker. J.R. Cau-
field, Tillamook postmaster, stated that all Tillamook County postmaster and postal
employees had been invited. The cornerstone ceremony was reported in the April 10th
issue. Although inclement weather cut the ceremony short, the large crowd enjoyed the
“impressive ceremonies". The high school band played, Mr. Winslow read a history of
postal service in Tillamook County, and Joe Carson delivered his address.

By July, the building was ready for service, and an article of July 10th an-
nounced the planned dedication ceremony to be held on July 15th. The July 17th issue
reported the dedication ceremonies and the main address by C.W. Barrick.
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THIRD STREET
SECOND STREET

LAUREL AVENUE



k4
4

a2
.

© @ uasicaagauar

5
F. LN

e g
- .L‘gosii

L7

L
A

~

B L
15 Y

N
%oy

FEEEATr 40y

o

Sunset Hpghts *

Sher s\ Me

Seeaaw

e

RO SO UV TS

A N
N

™ 4

o i@\&t

*

Pléasant Val)

~ UTM Reference
10/434200 /5033400

U.S. POST OFFICE
Tillamook, Oregon

- _{_; -R - .\,\7{/_'_ -

-

2




